THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-001325

William Ray Ward, #91566 Respondent,

v.

South Carolina Department of Corrections Appellant.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Lake E. Summers
Malone, Thompson, Summers & Ott LLC
339 Heyward Street, Suite 200
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
Office: (803) 254-3300
Fax: (803) 254-0309
E-mail: summers@mtsolvlawfirm.com

Counsel for the Appellant

RECEIVED
OCT 22 2018
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

The Appellant in the instant matter, William Ray Ward [“Ward”], challenged various aspects of the pay remitted to him by the Appellant, the South Carolina Department of Corrections [“SCDC”], while he voluntarily participated in a federally certified prison industries project operated by SCDC within the confines of Evans Correctional Institution [“Evans”].

Ward litigated his challenges to the pay SCDC remitted to him for his labor under the provisions of SCDC’s Inmate Grievance Policy System, designated as Policy Number GA-01.12 [“GA-01.12”]. SCDC denied Ward’s challenges, and he appealed SCDC’s denial to the South Carolina Administrative Law Court [“ALC”].

On June 20, 2018, the ALC issued its “Final Order” concerning Ward’s appeal (R. pp. ___ - ___). By its order, the ALC affirmed in part and reversed in part SCDC’s final decision regarding Ward’s challenges to his prison industries pay.

SCDC appeals the ALC’s order, but, as reflected by its July 18, 2018 Notice of Appeal (R. pp. ___ - ___), it appeals *only* the following rulings issued by the ALC:

The items set out in the contract as the hourly rate charged to the private sector business for the inmate labor furnished SCDC are “the gross wages of the prisoner,” as indicated in [*Torrence v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, 646 S.E.2d 866, 870, n. 4 (S.C. 2007)].¹ These gross wages must be disbursed as provided in [S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-40(A)]. Not to do so in an error of law, a “violation of the plain language of the statute which directs [SCDC] to disburse the money based on the gross wages.” [*Id.*]. (R. p. ___).

...

¹ Ward and Thomas Torrence, an inmate who also participated in the prison industries project operated by SCDC at Evans, were the lead plaintiffs in *Torrence*. (R. p. ___). Torrence separately filed a grievance with SCDC under GA-01.12 in which he articulated a variety of claims associated with his prison industries pay, including a claim of back pay of \$1.92 per hour for every hour of his labor. SCDC denied Torrence’s claims, and he appealed SCDC’s final decision to the ALC. The ALC issued two (2) orders by which it affirmed in part and reversed in part SCDC’s denial of Torrence’s claims. SCDC appealed to this Court the rulings from the ALC’s two (2) orders by which the ALC reversed SCDC’s denial of Torrence’s claims, and SCDC’s appeal remains pending. *See Thomas Torrence v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr.*, Appellate Case No. 2016-000285. *See also* note 3 below.

Also, [SCDC] takes the position that the additional itemized expenses totaling \$1.92 were not “lawfully” part of [Ward’s] gross wages, a position that is contrary to [*Torrence*, 646 S.E.2d at 870, n. 4] and is thus an error of law.² Thus, this portion of [SCDC’s] decision is REVERSED and REMANDED.³ **[SCDC] shall classify the entire contract amount as the hourly gross wage** for the purpose of determining not only whether the wage meets the prevailing wage requirement but also for the purpose of calculating deductions and distribution of [Ward’s] pay as set forth in § 24-3-40(A). [*Id.*]. (R. p. ____).

...

SCDC’s failures to demonstrate that it paid [Ward] the prevailing wage rate and to include the Social Security withholding, Workers’ Compensation premium, and SCDC Surplus Fund Amount in the gross wages prior to making deductions thereto were errors of law. Accordingly, the parts of [SCDC’s] decision dealing with the prevailing wage rate and gross wages are REVERSED and REMANDED. [SCDC] must demonstrate that [Ward] was paid prevailing wage rate for the type of labor he provided at the time and in the area that he provided it, pursuant to [S.C. Code Ann. §§ 24-3-410(B)(7) and 24-3-430(D)]. **[SCDC] must also classify the entire contract amount as the hourly gross wages** and calculate deductions and distributions from [Ward’s] pay as set forth in [§ 24-3-40(A)]. If the contractual wage rate was also used to pay the inmate while training for the work, then this amount must also be included in the recalculation. (R. p. ____).

[emphasis supplied].

² In the footnote associated with this passage, the ALC stated as follows (R. p. ____):

In addition to addressing the issues raised by [Ward], [SCDC] contends that [it] is required by law to make the prison system self-sustaining. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-20. Specifically, [SCDC] cites S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-190, which provides among other things that “amounts received or to be received from the hire of convicts or from any other source during the current fiscal year [must be] appropriated for the support of the penitentiary.” ([SCDC] also cites S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-400, but this section deals with proceeds from the sale of articles and products manufactured or produced by convict labor, not payments for the labor itself.). [SCDC] concludes that recalculating the wage structure as argued by [Ward] would create a deficiency in the prison industries program. **This argument is outside of the scope of this appeal.** The Court notes, however, that if creating a program that would make prisons self-sustaining, while not favoring prison industries over non-inmate labor furnished by law-abiding citizens, were the goal, then the token \$1.00 a month for occupancy of public property for private use could have been increased to rent at market value. [emphasis supplied].

As discussed below, SCDC’s instant appeal covers the above-quoted footnote.

³ The ALC in *Torrence* affirmed SCDC’s denial of *Torrence*’s claim that the agency owed him \$1.92 for every hour of labor he performed while he participated in the federally certified project it operated at Evans, and *Torrence* did not appeal the ALC’s ruling on this issue. *See* note 1 above.

Accordingly, SCDC respectfully presents the following issues on appeal:

- I. Was the procedure by which the ALC fashioned its ruling reversing the SCDC's denial of Ward's \$1.92 per labor hour back pay claim imbued with evidentiary error?
- II. Did the ALC erroneously anchor its decision to reverse SCDC's denial of Ward's \$1.92 back pay claim upon dicta from *Torrence*?
- III(A). Did the ALC err by ruling that SCDC must classify "Workers' Compensation premiums" as a component of the hourly gross wage it paid Ward for his prison industries labor?
- III(B). Did the ALC err by ruling that SCDC must classify "Social Security withholding payments" as a component of the hourly gross wage it paid Ward for his prison industries labor?
- III(C). Did the ALC err by ruling that SCDC must classify the "SCDC Surplus Fund Amount" as a component of the hourly gross wage it paid Ward for his prison industries labor?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. WARD'S GRIEVANCE

A. WARD'S STEP 1

Ward voluntarily participated in a federally certified Prison Industries Enhancement Certification Program ["PIECP"] project operated by SCDC at Evans in which ESCOD, Inc. and, later, Insilco, Inc. participated as the private industry sponsors.⁴

Ward filed a Step 1 grievance form with SCDC dated June 19, 2007 (R. pp. __ - __), in which, in pertinent part, he asserted the following (R. p. __):

[SCDC] is in violation of wages earned by me while working for private sector [companies] ESCOD and Insilco at Evans.⁵ [SCDC has] withheld

⁴ SCDC operates three (3) types of projects within its prison industries program: "traditional" projects (*see* S.C. Code Ann. §§ 24-3-320 and 330), "service work" projects (*see* §§ 24-1-290 and 295; *see also* § 24-3-310(3)), and projects certified by the federal government under its PIECP. SCDC must operate its PIECP projects, such as the project at Evans in which Ward participated, in conformity with federal law (*see* 18 USC § 1761, the Ashurst-Sumners Act), federal regulations (*see* 64 FR 17000, *et seq.*), and state law (*see* §§ 24-3-40 and 24-3-310, *et seq.*).

⁵ For clarity's sake, Ward's claim that he "worked for" or was otherwise employed by ESCOD and/or Insilco is negated by our Supreme Court's decision in *Williams, et al., v. S.C. Dep't of Corr. et al.*, 641 S.E.2d 885, 887 – 88 (S.C. 2007). Ward's claim is also negated by federal precedent. *See Bennett v. Frank*, 395 F.3d 409, 410 (7th Cir. 2005) ("People are not imprisoned for the purpose of enabling them to earn a living. ... **But prisoners are not employees.**"). [emphasis supplied]. Ward's claim is also negated by *S.C. Dep't of Corr. v. Cartrette*, 694 S.E.2d 18,

illegally all these wages. I grieve all wages owed tome by SCDC under [Torrence and § 24-3-40(A)]. [SCDC] is in violation of statute and [Torrence, 646 S.E.2d at 870, n. 4]. Therefore, **SCDC owes me back wages of \$1.92 for every single hour that I worked at Evans ... plus proper interest on these monies.** [emphasis supplied].

Ward then requested the following action: “That I be paid \$1.92 for every hour I ever worked for ESCOD/Insilco ... plus proper interest on these monies.” (R. p. __).

B. SCDC’S RESPONSE TO WARD’S STEP 1

SCDC, by and through the appropriate official, denied the claim(s) Ward articulated in his Step 1. (R. pp. __ - __).

Regarding Ward’s claim that SCDC pay him \$1.92 for every hour of the labor he performed, SCDC determined as follows (R. pp. __ - __):

I conclude that SCDC does not owe you \$1.92 or any other amount for every labor hour you voluntarily provided to the federally certified prison industries project operated by SCDC at Evans. Under the contracts struck between SCDC and ESCOD and/or INSILCO, SCDC legitimately charges ESCOD and/or INSILCO an hourly rate for “overhead cost” in addition to the hourly rate SCDC pays inmates in accordance with both state and federal law.

The circuit court in [Adkins] concluded that SCDC’s practice of invoicing private industry sponsors, like ESCOD and INSILSO, such an hourly “overhead cost” was accepted by the BJA,⁶ the federal agency responsible for certification of both the prison industries projects at issue in [Adkins] and the prison industries project at issue in the instant case.⁷

23 (S.C. Ct. App. 2010), in which this Court relied upon § 24-3-40(A) and *Williams*, 641 S.E.2d at 887, when it ruled that an inmate was not a private industry sponsor’s employee. As an aside, the dissent in *Cartrette* quoted the above-provided passage from *Bennett*. 694 S.E.2d at 24.

⁶ As it also stated in its response to Ward’s Step 1, the “BJA” is the United States Department of Justice’s Bureau of Justice Administration, which “published the guidelines applicable to [the Prison Industries Enhancement Certification Program] in the Federal Register, Specifically 64 FR 17000.” (R. p. __). The PIECP Guidelines from the Federal Register address the provisions of 18 U.S.C. § 1761, known as the Ashurst-Sumners Act. See note 4 above.

⁷ The reference to the circuit court’s conclusion in “Adkins” from the above-quoted passage in SCDC’s response to Ward’s Step 1 consists of the order filed October 30, 2002 by the circuit court in *Adkins v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., C/A No. 2000-CP-40-4761*. The litigation history of *Adkins* before the circuit court is available on-line via the Richland County Public Index. See <http://www5.rcgov.us/SCJDWEB/PublicIndex/PISearch.aspx>. SCDC submitted the circuit court’s order filed October 30, 2002 as an exhibit in support of the brief it filed April 11, 2016 with the ALC in the

SCDC's assessment of this "overhead cost" does not violate any applicable South Carolina statute, because the assessment of this cost allows SCDC to comply with a variety of the applicable prison industries statutes, including [S.C. Code § 24-3-400].⁸ These statutes, including § 24-3-400, either directly or indirectly compel SCDC to collect an hourly "overhead cost" or "administrative charge" from private industry sponsors, like ESCOD and INSILCO, so that it may cover the expenses it incurs as a consequence of operating the project in which you voluntarily participated at Evans.

C. WARD'S STEP 2 AND SCDC'S FINAL DECISION

By his Step 2 (R. p. ___), Ward appealed SCDC's initial denial of the wage claims he articulated in his Step 1, including his \$1.92 per hour back pay claim.

By its final decision (R. pp. ___ - ___), SCDC, by the appropriate official, affirmed its denial of Ward's Step 1 and likewise denied his Step 2.

Regarding Ward's claim that SCDC pay him \$1.92 for every hour of the labor he performed, SCDC determined as follows (R. pp. ___ - ___):

I concur with the warden's determination that SCDC does not owe you \$1.92 or any other amount for every labor hour you voluntarily provided to the federally certified PI project operated by SCDC at Evans. Again, ESCOD was and remains the private industry sponsor for the PI project operated at Evans. Under the contracts struck between SCDC and ESCOD, SCDC legitimately charges ESCOD an hourly rate for "overhead cost" in addition to the hourly rate SCDC pays inmates in accordance with both state and federal law. Neither 18 USC 1761(c), 64 FR 17000, [S.C. Code § 24-3-315], nor the decisions in [*Adkins*] and [*Torrence*] contradict this reality. **The "overhead cost" SCDC charges ESCOD is simply not a part of your inmate pay and it is not deducted from your inmate pay.**

instant matter. (R. pp. ___ - ___). The plaintiffs in *Adkins* consisted of current and former inmates who participated in a federally certified PIECP project operated by SCDC at Tyger River Correctional Institution. Again, the project operated by SCDC at Evans in which Ward participated was, like the project at issue in *Adkins*, a federally certified PIECP project. The plaintiffs in *Adkins* appealed the circuit court's decision to this Court, but our Supreme Court later accepted the case on direct review. By its decision in *Adkins v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 602 S.E.2d 51 (S.C. 2004), our Supreme Court affirmed in result the circuit court's decision in SCDC's favor, specifically by ruling that the plaintiffs did not possess a private right of action under the applicable prison industries statutes by which to sue SCDC. In its decision, however, our Supreme Court approvingly noted the circuit court's decision in SCDC's favor. 602 S.E.2d at 55, n. 6.

⁸ See note 2 above.

Furthermore, I note that the circuit court in [*Adkins*] concluded that SCDC's practice of invoicing a private industry sponsor, like ESCOD, such an hourly "overhead cost" was accepted by BJA, the federal agency responsible for certifying both the PI project at issue in [*Adkins*] and the PI project operated at Evans.

As the warden accurately explained in his response, **SCDC's assessment of this "overhead cost" does not violate any applicable South Carolina statute**, because the assessment of this cost allows the agency to comply with the various applicable PI statutes, including § 24-3-400. These statutes, including § 24-3-400, either directly or indirectly compel SCDC to collect an hourly "overhead cost" or "administrative charge" from private industry sponsors so that the agency may cover the expenses it incurs as a consequence of operating these projects.

[emphasis supplied].

II. WARD'S NOTICE OF APPEAL TO THE ALC

Torrence timely appealed SCDC's denial of his grievance by filing a Notice of Appeal with the ALC on October 18, 2015. (R. p. __), in which, in relevant part, he asserted as follows:

Also, due to [*Torrence*, 646 S.E.2d at 870, n. 4], **I should be paid by SCDC \$1.92 for every hour** I worked in the [federally certified PIECP project operated by SCDC at Evans]. [emphasis supplied].

III. PROCEEDINGS BEFORE THE ALC

By motion dated January 25, 2016, Ward began proceedings before the ALC regarding the final decision by which SCDC denied his prison industries pay claims. (R. pp. __ - __).

Ward followed his January 25, 2016 motion with his "Brief in Support of his Appeal" dated January 27, 2016 (R. pp. __ - __), in which he asserted as follows regarding his \$1.92 per hour back pay claim (R. p. __):

Moreover, following the completion of his training, **SCDC withheld \$1.92 per hour from [Ward's] paychecks** and, once again, paid him less than the prevailing wage in violation of South Carolina law.⁹ [emphasis supplied].

⁹ The ALC, in its June 20, 2018 "Final Order," remanded the determination of the applicable "prevailing wage" back to SCDC. (R. pp. __ - __). Neither party appealed the ALC's remand to this Court. As explained below, SCDC did not "withhold \$1.92 per hour from [Ward's] paychecks."

In both of the above-referenced filings, however, Ward accurately asserted that SCDC had not yet filed a complete record with the ALC, and, on February 11, 2016, the ALC issued its “Order for Completed Record.” (R. pp. __ - __).

In conformity with the ALC’s February 11, 2016 order, SCDC, by a motion filed February 17, 2016, submitted a complete record reflecting the grievances in which Ward asserted his prison industries pay claims and its responses thereto. (R. pp. __ - __).

Ward then filed another brief with the ALC dated March 8, 2016 (R. pp. __ - __), in which he asserted as follows regarding his \$1.92 per hour back pay claim (R. p. __ - __):

Moreover, SCDC **withheld \$1.92 per hour from [Ward’s] wages** for the entirety of his work with the Project.

...
SCDC was not entitled to **collect \$1.92 per hour from [Ward’s] wages.**

...
In addition to SCDC’s failure to pay [Ward] the prevailing wage for his work as required by law, **SCDC also withheld \$1.92 per hour from [Ward’s] compensation for “overhead” costs.** (Step 1 Grievance). SCDC claims that South Carolina law “compel[s]” SCDC to collect an hourly overhead cost from private industry sponsors. (Step 1 Grievance Response, p. 5). However, the court in *Torrence*, **referencing the \$1.92 deduction by SCDC**, noted that if the agency “removes any of the money remitted by the private industry sponsor and then disburses the percentages listed in [§ 24-3-40] based on the lower rate, [SCDC] would be in violation of the plain language of the statute which directs it to disburse the money based on the gross wages.¹⁰” [*Torrence*, 646 S.E.2d at 870, n. 4]. The only support SCDC provides with respect to its **\$1.92 deduction** is the threadbare assertion that the agency required “overhead costs” for the program. However, there is no explanation or discussion that breaks down those costs, or demonstrates that SCDC did in fact disburse the money based on gross wages. Without more, the agency fails to adequately rebut this issue, and as a result, **SCDC should compensate [Ward] for the hourly deductions from his paycheck.**

[emphasis supplied].

¹⁰ As shown on page 10 below, Ward did not fully quote the footnote in *Torrence* upon which he anchored his claim.

SCDC filed its brief with the ALC on April 11, 2016 (R. pp. ___ - ___), within which it squarely addressed Ward’s claim regarding the \$1.92 per labor hour “deduction” it purportedly assessed on his gross prison industries pay. (R. p. ___ - ___).

To facilitate its explanation, SCDC introduced a copy of its March 3, 2001 contract with Insilco, ESCOD’s successor as the private industry sponsor for the federally certified PIECP project it operated at Evans, as an exhibit in support of its brief. (R. pp. ___ - ___).

Using data from the contract, SCDC explained in its brief that contrary to Ward’s assertion, the \$1.92 hour figure at issue did not represent its “overhead costs.” Instead, the \$1.92 per hour figure consisted of three (3) separate costs, *none of which were included* in the inmates’ gross hourly wage (R. pp. ___ - ___):

- 1) \$0.40 designated as “Prorata Social Security,”
- 2) \$0.20 designated as “Prorata Workers’ Compensation Premium,” and
- 3) \$1.32 designated as “SCDC Surplus Fund Amount.”

The entirety of the operative section from the contract (i.e. Section 3.3.1) reflected these three (3) separate costs, as well as other information essential to the proper resolution of SCDC’s instant appeal (R. pp. ___ - ___):

1. Hourly Rate: [Insilco] and SCDC agree to an hourly rate determined as follows:

| | |
|---------------------------------------|-------------|
| Prevailing Wage (See Appendix D) | \$5.25 |
| Prorata Social Security | .40 |
| Prorata Workers’ Compensation Premium | .20 |
| <u>SCDC Surplus Fund Amount</u> | <u>1.32</u> |
| Hourly Rate charged to Contract | \$7.17 |

At no time during this agreement will inmates be paid less than the prevailing wage as set forth in Appendix D. **The prevailing wage rate is to be established annually by the S.C. Employment Security Commission.**¹¹ Upon receipt of the annual wage rate, SCDC will notify [Insilco] in writing and adjust its charge accordingly. In the event the prevailing wage, **prorata social security withholding payments, or prorata Workers' Compensation premium** increase during the term of this agreement, [Insilco] agrees to increase the prevailing inmate wage on a dollar for dollar basis, immediately upon the effective date of such increase.

SCDC and [Insilco] will negotiate the “**SCDC Surplus Fund Amount**” annually.

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