THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

H.W. Funderburk, Jr., Administrative Law Judge

Administrative Law Court Docket No. 15-ALJ-04-0560-AP

Appellate Case No. 2018-001325

RECEIVED
MAR 22 2019
SC Court of Appeals

William Ray Ward, #91566 Respondent,

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

ARGUMENT

This appeal involves the rights of an inmate who participated in a prison industries program. Federal law generally prohibits the transportation in interstate commerce of goods,

wares, and merchandise manufactured or produced by prisoners. 18 U.S.C. § 1761(a). An exception is available for prisoners participating in a work pilot project administered by the Bureau of Justice Assistance (“BJA”), an agency of the Department of Justice. 18 U.S.C. § 1761(c). Convicts participating in such programs must have “received wages at a rate which is not less than that paid for work of a similar nature in the locality in which the work was performed.” *Id.* § 1761(c)(2). Those wages are subject to certain listed deductions, including federal, state, and local taxes. *Id.*

BJA guidelines published in the Federal Register state that “[p]revailing wage verification must be obtained by the appropriate state agency which determines wage rates (usually the Department of Economic Security).” 64 Fed. Reg. 17000, 17010 (Apr. 7, 1999). In the absence of such verification, the program participant is “responsible for establishing a reasonable prevailing wage.” *Id.* The participant must then retain on file for the BJA’s review “relevant wage data from a sufficient number of competitors in the locality,” “data analyses for determining a reasonable prevailing wage result,” and “if possible, a written assessment of the reasonableness of the resulting prevailing wage determination by an appropriate state agency which normally determines wage rates.” *Id.* The prevailing wage “can not be set below the Federal minimum wage, as defined in the Fair Labor Standards Act.” *Id.* “Payment of the Federal minimum wage, however, does not automatically achieve compliance with the prevailing wage requirement unless the prevailing wage for the comparable private sector industries is, in fact, the Federal minimum wage.” *Id.*

In 1995, South Carolina passed legislation enabling its prison industries program to participate in the private sector. *See Gatewood v. S.C. Dep’t of Corrs.*, 416 S.C. 304, 785 S.E.2d 600 (Ct. App. 2016). In particular, South Carolina adopted S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-430, requiring

that “no inmate participating in the program may earn less than the prevailing wage” for similar private-sector work. S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-430(D); 1995 S.C. Acts 79. The legislature also amended S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-40 to provide that a prisoner’s wages were to be paid directly to SCDC and to specify the manner in which a prisoner’s earnings were to be disbursed. *Id.* Section 24-3-40 was amended again in 1999 to further detail the distribution of the “gross wages of the prisoner.” 1999 S.C. Acts 232.

The rights of individual prisoners under these statutes have been addressed in a series of decisions. In the companion cases of *Adkins v. S.C. Dep’t of Corrs.*, 360 S.C. 413, 602 S.E.2d 51 (2004) and *Wicker v. S.C. Dep’t of Corrs.*, 360 S.C. 421, 602 SE.2d 56 (2004), inmates complained that they had not been paid the prevailing wage during training hours or thereafter. The South Carolina Supreme Court held that, although South Carolina’s prevailing wage statute did not create a private right of action, the inmates were still entitled to due process in the form of a grievance to protest SCDC’s failure to pay them the proper wage. *Wicker*, 360 S.C. at 424, 602 S.E.2d at 57; *Adkins*, 360 S.C. at 419, 602 S.E.2d at 55. In *Torrence*, the Supreme Court reaffirmed *Adkins* and *Wicker*, holding that inmates protesting their wages were confined to a grievance proceeding rather than a declaratory action. The *Torrence* court also stated in a footnote that it would violate the plain language of Section 24-3-40 if SCDC were to “remove[] any of the money remitted by the private industry sponsor” before distributing a prisoner’s gross wages as required by that statute. *Torrence*, 373 S.C. at 594 n.4, 646 S.E.2d at 869 n.4.

Here, Respondent Ward’s position is simple: By law, he should have earned the prevailing wage for his work in the prison industries program. If the prevailing wage included the \$1.92 remitted by ESCOD and Insilco, that money should have been disbursed strictly in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-40. If not, and the \$1.92 overhead figure was separate

and apart from Ward's own wages, those wages plainly fell short of the prevailing wage requirement. Whatever the case, the ALC properly reversed SCDC's Step 1 and Step 2 grievance denials and remanded for a determination of whether Ward's gross wages, properly considered, met the requirement that he earn the prevailing wage for his work.⁵ SCDC offers no reason for overturning the ALC's decision in this regard.

I. ANY EVIDENTIARY ERROR ON THE PART OF THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT WAS HARMLESS

In the first section of its brief, SCDC complains that the ALC refused to consider a contract document that SCDC attempted to introduce for the first time as an attachment to its brief before the ALC. The contract in question, which was between SCDC and Insilco, appears to break out the amount remitted by that sponsor into a wage, a Social Security withholding, a workers' compensation premium, and a payment to the "SCDC Surplus Fund." The latter three components equal the \$1.92 which the *Torrence* plaintiffs claimed was wrongfully diverted from their wages. (R. p. 134, 140).

Although the ALC properly ruled that SCDC's contract was not part of the administrative record, it is not clear how this ruling, even if wrong, could have resulted in harm. The thrust of SCDC's argument is that the Social Security and workers' compensation withholdings and the SCDC Surplus Fund payments all fall outside the meaning of "gross wages" for purposes of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-40. The ALC appears to have considered this argument, but to have determined, based on *Torrence*, that "[t]he items set out in the contract as the hourly rate charged to the private-sector business for the inmate labor furnished by SCDC are 'the gross wages of the prisoner.'" (R. p. 184). While it may differ with the ALC on this point, SCDC does not appear to

⁵ Ward would raise the issue of whether the ALC's decision was final for purposes of appeal, given that the ALC remanded for a determination of Ward's proper wages. See *Charlotte-Mecklenburg Hosp. Auth. v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 387 S.C. 265, 267, 692 S.E.2d 894, 894 (2010).

have been harmed by the ALC's accurate observation that the contract between SCDC and Insilco was not properly included in the record. Similarly, the ALC considered, but rejected, SCDC's argument that the \$1.92 amount was actually a separate hourly "overhead" rate paid by first ESCOD and then Insilco. This (along with a since-abandoned timeliness argument) was SCDC's official basis for denying Ward's Step 1 and Step 2 grievances. (R. p. 31-33, 40).

II. WARD ESTABLISHED THAT \$1.92 WAS DIVERTED FROM HIS GROSS WAGES

SCDC also argues that Ward failed to prove that SCDC in fact removed \$1.92 from his gross wages contrary to law. Although SCDC's arguments in this regard are spread over separate sections of its brief, they reduce to the following propositions: The *Torrence* footnote acknowledging the impropriety of such a removal was mere *dictum*, and Ward supposedly failed to "prove true" his claim that SCDC removed a portion of the money remitted for his labor by his prison industry sponsors.

With respect to SCDC's first argument, Ward acknowledges that footnote 4 was not essential to the *Torrence* court's narrow holding that, although the plaintiffs' rights could be vindicated in a grievance action, they could not maintain a declaratory action in court. That said, the footnote spoke to the very essence of the claim asserted by the *Torrence* plaintiffs: namely, that SCDC could not divert a portion of the amounts paid by prison industry sponsors before disbursing the amounts authorized by S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-40. The Supreme Court stated in so many words that to "remove[] any of the money remitted by the private industry sponsor" and then to "disburse[] the percentages listed in section 24-3-40" would violate the plain language of that statute. *Torrence*, 373 S.C. at 594 n.4, 646 S.E.2d at 869 n.4. If this statement was *dictum*, it was a nevertheless an unmistakable signal of the Supreme Court's views on the matter. Not

surprisingly, the ALC applied footnote 4 of *Torrence* and ruled that SCDC was not entitled to divert \$1.92 of the total amount remitted by private industry sponsors.⁶

SCDC's second argument, namely that Ward failed to prove that SCDC removed a portion of the money remitted by the prison industry sponsors, borders on frivolous. SCDC admits that it collected \$1.92 of the total remitted by ESCOD and Insilco and applied that amount other than as provided for in Section 24-3-40. In its Step 1 grievance response, SCDC denied owing Ward \$1.92 per hour because "[u]nder the contracts struck between SCDC and ESCOD and/or INSILCO, SCDC legitimately charges ESCOD and/or INSILCO an hourly rate for 'overhead cost' in addition to the hourly rate SCDC pays inmates in accordance with both state and federal law." (R. p. 32). SCDC reiterated this position in response to Ward's Step 2 Grievance. (R. p. 40). Before the ALC, SCDC expressly contended that, as of March 2001, a prison industry sponsor⁷ paid a total hourly rate of \$7.17 for Ward's labor, only \$5.25 of which was described as a "prevailing wage." (R. p. 83-84).

It is abundantly clear from the record that SCDC did not treat all of the hourly remittances from the prison industry sponsors as Ward's "gross wages." Rather, it and the sponsor agreed between themselves to treat a *portion* of those remittances as "prevailing wages," subject to disbursement under Section 24-3-40, and the balance as "overhead," which SCDC disposed of as it pleased. Whether SCDC was in fact within its rights to allocate the sponsor's hourly remittance in this fashion is a question of law and one the ALC decided adversely to

⁶ SCDC makes a great deal of Ward's statement that SCDC would be "within its rights" to charge private industry sponsors an amount over and above the prevailing wage, so long as participating inmates were paid the prevailing wage and their wages were disbursed according to Section 24-3-40. But such "dicta" in Ward's own filings do not have the force of law. If SCDC seeks to have the ALC reversed on any legal grounds, it must demonstrate to the appellate tribunal the manner in which the ALC erred. SCDC's substantive arguments in that regard (versus those based on so-called concessions in Ward's prior briefing) are confined to the last section of SCDC's brief; accordingly, they will be taken up in the final section of this brief.

⁷ SCDC's brief before the ALC identified the sponsor as ESCOD, although a contract filed with SCDC's brief was between SCDC and Insilco.

SCDC. But the claim that Ward somehow failed to meet an evidentiary burden ignores the position taken by SCDC in response to Ward's grievances and before the ALC. Ward did not need to submit additional proof of facts already conceded by SCDC.

Furthermore, it does not matter whether Ward "proved" that \$1.92 was removed from his gross wages. His gross wages were at all times to have equaled the prevailing wage for his labor. SCDC has thus far managed to sidestep the question of whether Ward was paid the prevailing wage for wire harness assembly work. Although the BJA guidelines required SCDC to verify the prevailing wage for prison industry work, nowhere in its filings to date does SCDC provide that information for Ward's prior labor. *See* 64 Fed. Reg. at 17010. Instead, in denying Ward's Step 1 grievance, SCDC asserted that, after completion of his training hours, Ward was paid "at least" the federal minimum wage. (R. p. 32). But SCDC is well aware that payment of the minimum wage "does not automatically achieve compliance with the prevailing wage requirement." 64 Fed. Reg. at 17010. Even the contract excerpt attached to SCDC's brief before the ALC manages to omit the appendix that, according to the contract, establishes the "prevailing wage" for inmate labor.⁸ (R. p. 140, 134-45; R. p. 174). The ALC properly remanded Ward's grievance for a determination of whether Ward was paid the prevailing wage for his labor, as required by law. SCDC does not appear to contest this aspect of the ALC's decision. *See Appellant's Initial Brief* at 6 n. 9.

⁸ The contract actually recites that "[t]he prevailing wage rate for inmate labor is to be established annually by the S.C. Employment Security Commission." (R. p. 140). One can only wonder why SCDC has failed throughout these proceedings to include the Employment Security Commission's prevailing wage information for wire harness assembly work in the record. Given the laws and regulations discussed above, SCDC should have this information readily at hand.

III. SCDC HAS NOT DEMONSTRATED ANY ERROR IN THE ALC'S TREATMENT OF THE "OVERHEAD" AMOUNT DEDUCTED FROM PRISON INDUSTRY SPONSOR REMITTANCES

The ALC refused to accept SCDC's position that it was entitled to treat a portion of the hourly remittance from a prison industries sponsor as the "prevailing wage" and dispose of the remainder of that remittance as "overhead." The law clearly entitles SCDC to hire out prison labor to private-sector industries so long as it charges at least the prevailing wage for that labor. But SCDC has yet to cite any law for the proposition that it can tack on an additional charges for "overhead" items, including workers' compensation insurance payments, employer Social Security contributions, and what appears to be a "general fund." While Ward's position remains that, one way or another, he is entitled to be paid the prevailing wage (the real prevailing wage, not one SCDC establishes by fiat in a contract), SCDC has not made a case for overturning the ALC's conclusion that the entire private-sector hourly remittance must be considered the "gross wages" of the prisoner.

A. SCDC'S OVERHEAD CHARGE IS NOT COMPELLED BY SOUTH CAROLINA'S WORKERS' COMPENSATION LAW

SCDC takes issue with the fact that \$0.20 of the \$1.92 remitted by ESCOD and Insilco was allegedly allocated for payment of a workers' compensation premium. It is correct that prison inmates are entitled to receive workers' compensation benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-480. Payments to claimant-inmates, however, are to be paid through the State Accident Fund in the same manner as state employees. S.C. Code Ann. § 42-490. According to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-75, state agencies are required to pay workers' compensation premiums as determined by the State Accident Fund. *Id.* § 42-7-75. It is apparently SCDC's practice to pass the cost of workers' compensation insurance for inmates to the private companies who make use of their labor. An employer may not require an employee to pay for workers' compensation

insurance. Such a practice is expressly forbidden by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-5-200. Thus under no circumstances can the \$0.20 apparently allotted to a pro rata workers' compensation premium be deducted from Ward's wages. SCDC does not explain why it should not simply pay for the cost of workers' compensation insurance for prison industry participants in the same manner as ordinary SCDC employees, *i.e.*, by payment of a premium to the State Accident Fund. The fact that inmates employed in the prison industries program are supposed to receive workers' compensation does not automatically imply that private users of prison labor must cover the additional premium.

B. SCDC'S OVERHEAD CHARGE IS NOT COMPELLED BY SOCIAL SECURITY LAWS

Similarly, SCDC would not be authorized to deduct the employer's contribution to Social Security taxes from Ward's pay. Ward's own Social Security tax liability, if any, would be properly deductible from his wages under S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-40(A)(6). But the employer's separate Social Security contribution would not count towards a determination of whether Ward was paid the prevailing wage for his labor. Again, SCDC's apparent objective is to transfer this cost to private-sector users of prison labor. But the propriety of this practice does not follow from the mere fact that prison inmates are entitled to employment-related benefits such as Social Security. Again, it is unclear why Social Security contributions for inmates working in the prison industries programs should not be paid in the same fashion as with ordinary SCDC employees.

C. THERE IS NO LEGAL REQUIREMENT THAT THE PRISON INDUSTRIES PROGRAM OPERATE AT A SURPLUS

Finally, SCDC argues that it is authorized to charge private users of prison labor \$1.32 per hour, and allocate that charge to the "SCDC Surplus Fund," because to do otherwise would require SCDC's prison industries program to operate at a deficit. But SCDC offers no authority for this proposition. The main support for this argument seems to be S.C. Code Ann. § 24-3-190,

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